
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA 

 

CASE NO. 20-CV-81205-RAR 

 

 

SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION, 

 

Plaintiff  

 

vs.  

 

COMPLETE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS GROUP, 

INC. d/b/a PAR FUNDING, et al., 
 

 Defendants. 

_________________________________________/  
 

DEFENDANT PERRY ABBONIZIO’S OMNIBUS MOTION IN LIMINE   

INTRODUCTION 

Perry Abbonizio (“Abbonizio”) brings this omnibus motion in limine to exclude evidence 

regarding: (1) an unrelated Financial Industry Regulatory Authority investigation (“FINRA”) and 

settlement; (2) a substantially similar lawsuit initiated by the Texas State Securities Board that has 

been stayed pending the outcome of this litigation; and (3) repayment of a Par promissory note to 

Mr. Abbonizio’s mother-in law during the height of COVID. Evidence related to each of these 

categories is irrelevant to this proceeding and far more prejudicial than probative. The Court should 

exclude evidence related to all three topics for the reasons more fully explained below. 

LEGAL STANDARD 

 The purpose of an in limine motion is to resolve evidentiary issues prior to trial to ensure 

a smooth proceeding free from lengthy objections and interruption. Palmieri v. Defaria, 88 F.3d 

136, 141 (2d Cir. 1996). The trial court should exclude evidence prior to trial when the evidence 

is inadmissible under the governing rules. Id. 
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 Mr. Abbonizio moves to exclude evidence under Federal Rules of Evidence 401 (relevant 

evidence), 403 (unfairly prejudicial evidence), and 404(b) (other act evidence). 

Relevant Evidence 

 Under the Federal Rules, evidence is relevant if it has “any tendency to make the existence 

of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable 

than it would be without the evidence.” Fed. R. Evid. 401. “Evidence which is not relevant is not 

admissible.” Fed. R. Evid. 402. 

Prejudicial Evidence 

 Even when evidence is relevant, a court must exclude evidence if its “probative value is 

substantially outweighed by a danger of … unfair prejudice, confusing the issues, misleading the 

jury, undue delay, wasting time, or needlessly presenting cumulative evidence.” Fed. R. Evid. 403. 

The term “unfair prejudice … speaks to the capacity of some concededly relevant evidence to lure 

the factfinder into declaring guilt on a ground different from proof specific to the offense charged.” 

Old Chief v. United States, 519 U.S. 172, 180 (1997). Evidence should be excluded when it unduly 

inflames the jury or otherwise inappropriately leads them to find a defendant liable based on 

conduct not at issue in the trial. Stewart v. Daimler Chrysler Fin. Services America, LLC,  Civil 

Action No. 07-60510, 2008 WL 11333226, at *3 (S.D. Fla. 2008). 

Other Act Evidence 

 The Government cannot present evidence of other crimes, acts, or prior convictions to 

attempt to prove liability by suggesting that the defendant exhibits a pattern of “bad” or unlawful 

behavior. See Fed. R. Evid. 404(b); United States v. Beechum, 582 F.2d 898, 910 (5th Cir. 1978) 

(en banc) (Rule 404(b) “follows the venerable principle that evidence of extrinsic offenses should 
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not be admitted solely to demonstrate the defendant’s bad character,” even when the extrinsic 

evidence is relevant, because such evidence is inherently prejudicial.).  

A court can only admit other act evidence if: (1) the evidence is relevant to an issue other 

than the defendant’s character; (2) sufficient evidence is presented to allow the jury to find that the 

defendant committed the extrinsic act; and (3) its probative value is not substantially outweighed 

by its possible prejudice. United States v. Ellisor, 522 F.3d 1255, 1267 (11th Cir. 2008). Evidence 

of prior crimes or convictions may be admissible to show “intent, knowledge, identity, or absence 

of mistake” but not to show character or propensity. Id. “Where prior convictions are concerned, 

the line between intent or knowledge and character or propensity is often a fine one, requiring the 

thoughtful, focused attention of the district court. The most important reason why this attention is 

required is that the introduction of prior convictions, unless carefully handled, will undermine the 

presumption of innocence.” United States v. McCallum, 584 F.3d 471, 475 (2d Cir. 2009). 

ARGUMENT 

I. The Court should exclude all evidence related to Abbonizio’s FINRA Letter of 

Acceptance. 

 

Abbonizio believes the SEC intends to introduce evidence of an unrelated, FINRA 

regulatory investigation and consent order. The Court should exclude all evidence related to the 

FINRA violation because it is irrelevant, unfairly prejudicial, and improper character evidence. 

FINRA is a private corporation that acts as a self-regulatory organization overseeing 

employees at member brokerage firms. Wells Fargo is one such brokerage firm. Abbonizio worked 

at Wells Fargo from 2008 to 2011. In 2015, FINRA initiated an investigation into Abbonizio 

regarding some work he did for an outside firm while he was employed at Wells Fargo. Ex. A. 

FINRA alleged that in 2011, Abbonizio, while working at Wells Fargo, recommended that ten 

Wells Fargo customers invest with an outside firm. Id. at 2. Further, FINRA alleged that Abbonizio 
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assisted the outside firm in finding high-level executives. Id. at 3. FINRA claimed that Abbonizio 

violated FINRA rules by doing work for the outside firm without providing adequate notice to his 

employer, Wells Fargo. Id. Without admitting or denying the allegations against him, Abbonizio 

entered into a Letter of Acceptance, Waiver, and Consent settlement and agreed to a $10,000 fine 

and a four-month suspension from associating with any FINRA firms. Id. at 4. 

Evidence regarding this FINRA violation must be excluded for three independent reasons. 

First, the FINRA disciplinary proceeding is irrelevant and does not tend to make the 

existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of this action more probable or 

less probable than it would be without the evidence. In this case, Abbonizio is accused of violating 

various securities laws by willfully making misleading or false representations. The conduct at 

issue in the FINRA case—working with an outside firm while he allegedly owed a duty of loyalty 

to Wells Fargo—has absolutely nothing to do with proving any of the elements for the securities 

claims at issue here. In the FINRA matter, there were no allegations of improper disclosures or 

any harm to Mr. Abbonizio’s investor clients.  

Furthermore, the SEC does not allege that Abbonizio’s failure to disclose the FINRA 

settlement forms the basis of any of the securities claims brought against him. See D.E. 119, 

Amended Complaint, at Section G pp. 29-46 (listing the alleged material misrepresentations and 

omissions made in connection with the Par offering and failing to reference the FINRA issue).1 

The only reference to Mr. Abbonizio’s FINRA settlement in the SEC’s Amended Complaint 

appears in a section describing Abbonizio’s background. Id. at ¶ 21. Because the allegations of the 

 
1 Moreover, even if Abbonizio failed to disclose his FINRA issue with every potential 

investor, this lack of disclosure cannot form the basis of a securities violation because the FINRA 

settlement was and is public knowledge and easily accessible to any potential investor with access 

to the internet. See https://www.finra.org/sites/default/files/fda_documents/2011028152201_FDA 

_UMX10341%20%282019-1563032958360%29.pdf   
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FINRA investigation are wholly irrelevant to proving any of the elements of the causes of actions 

against Abbonizio, the Court should exclude this evidence under Rules 401 and 402. 

Second, evidence regarding the FINRA violation should be excluded because it is improper 

character evidence in the nature of a prior conviction. Evidence of prior crimes, wrongs, or bad 

acts are “not admissible to prove a person’s character in order to show that on a particular occasion 

the person acted in accordance with the character.” Fed. R. Evid. 404(b). A court should exclude 

the introduction of prior regulatory issues where the evidence is designed to imply to the jury that 

it should find for the Government because the Defendant makes a practice of engaging in 

regulatory violations. Union County, Iowa v. Piper Jaffray & Co., Inc., Civil Action No. 06-cv-

374, 2010 WL 11468305, at *6-7 (S.D. Iowa Dec. 4, 2010) (excluding evidence connected to 

unrelated SEC and insurance investigations where evidence related to prior regulatory proceedings 

was “clearly designed to imply to the jury that it should find in favor of the [Government] because 

[defendant] makes a practice of misleading its investors or of undertaking shady dealings.”).  

Here, there is a real risk the jury will use the FINRA consent settlement as improper 

evidence of Abbonizio’s character as a rule-breaker and improperly find him liable based on this 

prior regulatory violation. The FINRA violation is even more prejudicial than just a garden-variety 

bad act because to a lay audience it looks and smells like a prior conviction for violating securities-

type rules. Courts routinely exclude evidence of similar prior convictions because the introduction 

of such convictions, unless carefully handled, can cause the jury to make liability findings based 

on improper evidence. See United States v. Roberts, 735 Fed. App’x 649, 653 (11th Cir. 2018) 

(“[D]espite limiting instructions, it is very difficult for juries not to draw propensity inferences 

when prior convictions are admitted.”). Further, the SEC cannot offer a “proper purpose” for this 

character evidence such as “intent, knowledge, or opportunity.” See Fed. R. Evid. 404(b)(2). And, 
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even if the SEC could offer a proper purpose, the evidence should still be excluded because the 

probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect as described 

below.    

Third, evidence related to the FINRA violation should also be excluded under Rule 403 

because even if the FINRA issue were relevant and not impermissible character evidence, the 

FINRA evidence is far more prejudicial than probative. For decades, courts have recognized the 

impropriety of the Government using civil regulatory violations to imply or suggest that a 

defendant should be found liable or guilty in a subsequent criminal or civil regulatory case. United 

States v. Christo, 614 F.2d 486, 490 (5th Cir. 1980) (“The government’s evidence and argument 

concerning violations of [the civil regulatory provision] impermissibly infected the very purpose 

for which the trial was being conducted …”); United States v. Riddle, 103 F.3d 423, 431 (5th Cir. 

1997) (trial court abused discretion by admitting regulatory report of persistent regulatory 

violations, effectively allowing jury to equate poor banking practices with criminal intent).  

Relatedly, there is a danger that the jury will give undue weight to the FINRA settlement 

and find that Abbonizio is liable merely because he may have previously violated FINRA rules. 

In other words, the Letter of Acceptance and other facts related to what is effectively a settlement 

with FINRA carry an imprimatur of authority that the jury is likely to blindly follow. Courts 

routinely exclude government agency reports or related documents to prevent unfair prejudice. See 

United States v. Mirilishvili, Criminal Action No. 14-810, 2016 WL 751690, at *11 (S.D.N.Y. 

Feb. 19, 2016) (excluding evidence of regulatory proceeding regarding revocation of defendant’s 

medical license in criminal case for distribution of narcotics); Chambers v. Sch. Dist. of Phila Bd. 

Of Educ., 827 F. Supp. 2d 409, 420 (E.D. Pa. 2011) (noting that a “jury could be likely to give 

undue weight to the decision of a government agency”), rev’d in part on other grounds, 537 Fed. 
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App’x 90 (3d Cir. 2013); Cambra v. Rest. Sch., Civil Action No. 04-2688, 2005 WL 2886220, at 

*3 (E.D. Pa. Nov. 2, 2005) (excluding EEOC determination letter that drew categorical legal 

conclusions at the “heart” of the related civil case); Abramowitz v. Inta-Boro Acres Inc., Civil 

Action No. 98-4139, 1999 WL 1288942, at *7 (E.D.N.Y. Nov. 16, 1999) (excluding related 

decision by regulatory body where only purpose to be served by admitting report into evidence 

was to “suggest to jury that it should reach the same conclusion.”). 

For the reasons stated above, the Court should exclude references to Abbonizio’s FINRA 

settlement. 

II. The Court should exclude all evidence related to the Texas Securities Action. 

 

The Court should exclude all reference to, and evidence related to a lawsuit initiated by the 

Texas State Securities Board (“TSSB”) (the “Texas Lawsuit”) against Par Funding and Abbonizio 

for two reasons. First, there is a danger that the jury will give undue weight to the Texas Lawsuit—

brought by a state regulator—which contains only allegations against Abbonizio at this point. 

Second, even if the Texas Lawsuit were relevant, it cannot form the basis of the securities 

violations here because the documentary evidence shows that Par did disclose the Texas Lawsuit. 

On February 25, 2020, the TSSB entered Order No. ENF-CDO-20-1798 (the “Emergency 

Order”) against six parties, including Abbonizio, Complete Business Solutions Group, Inc. dba 

Par Funding (“Par Funding”), and abetterfinancialplan.com, LLC aka A Better Financial Plan (“A 

Better Financial Plan”), pursuant to Section 23-2 of the Texas Securities Act (the “TSA”). The 

TSSB alleged fraud and registration violations. The instant SEC suit was filed just a few months 

after, making almost identical allegations under the federal securities laws.  

Abbonizio moved to stay the Texas Lawsuit, arguing that with respect to the core 

allegations, both this case and the Texas Lawsuit alleged: that Abbonizio engaged in fraud by 
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failing to disclose to investors certain regulatory actions against Par Funding; that Abbonizio 

engaged in fraud by not disclosing to investors the identity of the principals of Par Funding and 

the business reputation (i.e., criminal history) of a principal of Par Funding; and that Abbonizio 

engaged in the sale of unregistered securities. See Ex. B, Abbonizio’s Motion to Stay Texas Case. 

Recognizing the overlap between the two cases, the Administrative Law Judge overseeing 

the Texas Lawsuit stayed the case pending resolution of the instant action. As of today, the Texas 

Lawsuit is unadjudicated as against Abbonizio and contains nothing more than allegations. See 

Ex. C, ALJ Order Staying Texas Lawsuit. 

The Court should exclude evidence related to the Texas Lawsuit for two independent 

reasons. 

First, courts routinely exclude evidence of other related lawsuits to ensure that the jury 

does not find a defendant liable merely because he has been sued by other plaintiffs. See Board of 

Trustees of Aftra Retirement Fund v. JPMorgan Chase, 860 F.Supp.2d 251, 254 (S.D.N.Y. 2012) 

(“Indeed, courts generally exclude evidence of other related lawsuits … I see little probative value 

in allegations only. Accordingly, evidence of the existence of similar lawsuits is excluded from 

this trial.”); Foster v. Berwind Corp, Civil Action No. 90-857, 1991 WL 83090, at *1 (E.D. Pa. 

May 14, 1991) (excluding evidence of other lawsuits because the “complaints in these other actions 

are just that: allegations” and “are dispositive of nothing and would confuse the complex issues 

already present.”).  

While courts routinely exclude evidence of related suits brought by private parties, there 

is an even greater need to exclude evidence of the Texas Lawsuit here. The Texas Lawsuit was 

initiated by a state regulatory authority and there is a real danger that the jury will improperly 

give added credibility and weight to the SEC’s instant case merely because another state regulatory 
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agency initiated a similar suit and made similar allegations. See In re Processed Egg Prods. 

Antitrust Litig., Civil Action No. 08-md-2002, 2018 WL 1725802, at *7 (E.D. Pa. April 9, 2018) 

(excluding complaints, allegations, and filings made on behalf of FTC and Better Business in an 

antitrust trial between private civil litigants because of the improper “imprimatur of authority” that 

FTC and BBB filings carried).  

Second, the SEC appears to assert that it is not introducing the Texas Lawsuit for an 

improper use (i.e., Texas sued Defendants too so Defendant must be liable here), but that 

Defendants violated federal securities lawsuits by not immediately disclosing the Texas Lawsuit. 

See D.E. 119, Amended Complaint, at ¶¶262-67. This argument, if the SEC is making it, ignores 

the facts. The documentary evidence clearly demonstrates that Par and its agents disclosed the 

Texas Lawsuit in offering documents almost immediately—within a month of the filing of the 

Texas Lawsuit and before there had been any final factual findings. For example, in the offering 

documents prepared by Par in April 2020, the document clearly disclosed the Texas Lawsuit. See 

Ex. D, Exchange Offering Note dated April 8, 2020, at CBSG-Receiver-000119772, 119785 

(“Section 4.14. Risks Relating to Exchange Offer … the Seller has been subject to regulatory 

orders issued by…the Securities Commission of the State of Texas … On February 25, 2020, the 

[TSSB] issued a Cease-and-Desist Order against the Company … The TX Order did not impose 

any sanctions or other penalties against the Company. The Company is complying with the TX 

Order. The Company has engaged Texas counsel and has requested a hearing on the TX Order.”).2 

Given the danger that the jury will almost certainly be confused by the introduction of the 

Texas Lawsuit and the fact that the Texas Lawsuit cannot form the basis of a federal securities 

 

  2   The investor’s name is not relevant and has been redacted from the filing. 
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violation because it was disclosed, the Court should exclude all references to the parallel Texas 

case. 

III. The Court should exclude all evidence related to repayment of Par Notes to 

Abbonizio and his family members. 

 

Abbonizio suspects that the Government intends to introduce evidence that he and his 

mother-in-law at the height of COVID in the winter of 2020 received their principal back from 

prior personal investments in Par. Evidence related to repayment of the notes in 2020 is irrelevant 

to any issue in this case and inadmissible under Rule 403 as its only purpose is to unfairly inflame 

the jury’s emotions.  

During Abbonizio’s deposition, the SEC asked Abbonizio about the fact that many 

investors did not receive their interest payments during the height of COVID and were asked to 

enter into exchange notes that had materially different terms than the original promissory notes. 

See Ex. E, Abbonizio Depo. at 209-10. The SEC asked whether some investors received 

“preferential treatment” during this time such as Abbonizio’s mother-in-law and received their full 

principal back while other investors—who were not connected to Par—did not receive a return of 

their funds. Id. at 210. 

First, this evidence should be excluded under Rules 401 and 402. Evidence regarding the 

return of principal to Par insiders is irrelevant and does not tend to make the existence of any fact 

that is of consequence to the determination of the case any more probable or less probable than it 

would be without the evidence. Whether Par insiders were paid before Par paid other investors 

does not have any bearing on whether any of the Defendants committed the alleged violations 

outlined in the SEC’s Amended Complaint. 

Second, the Court should exclude evidence of repayments of the notes to insiders because 

this evidence is substantially more prejudicial than probative under Rule 403. Evidence of bad or 
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corrupt deeds should be excluded where they are not relevant to a lawsuit and are designed to 

imply “to the jury that it should find in favor of the [Government] because [defendant] makes a 

practice of misleading its investors or of undertaking in shady dealings.” Union County, Iowa, 

2010 WL 11468305, at *6-7; See also Nagy v. United States, 519 Fed. App’x 137, 143 (4th Cir. 

2013) (finding that district court abused its discretion in permitting evidence that defendant failed 

to pay his taxes where failure to pay taxes was irrelevant to case and defendant’s failure to pay 

taxes “bears all the indicia of a garden-variety ‘bad acts’ evidence with no other purpose than to 

emotionally inflame the jury against the defendant.”). 

Here, there is a real danger that evidence of the alleged preferential treatment will unfairly 

inflame juror’s emotions. COVID was a particularly difficult time for many—financially, 

mentally, and emotionally—and evidence about Par’s alleged preferential treatment of insiders 

serves no other purpose than to inflame the jury against the Defendants and divert the jury’s 

attention from the actual issues at contest. The Court should exclude all evidence and references 

to the alleged insider payments. 

CONCLUSION 

 For the foregoing reasons, Abbonizio requests that the Court grant the motions in limine. 

Date: November 10, 2021    

Respectfully submitted, 

       /s/ Jeffrey E. Marcus 

       Jeffrey E. Marcus 

       jmarcus@mnrlawfirm.com 

       Fla Bar No. 310890 

       Jason L. Mays  

       jmays@mnrlawfirm.com 

        Fla. Bar 106495 

       Brandon S. Floch 

       bfloch@mnrlawfirm.com 

        Fla. Bar No. 125218 
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MARCUS NEIMAN RASHBAUM & 

PINEIRO LLP                    

       2 South Biscayne Boulevard, Suite 1750 

       Miami, Florida 33131  

       Telephone: (305) 400-4260 

       jmarcus@mnrlawfirm.com   

 

       Counsel for Perry Abbonizio 

 

 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

I hereby certify that on November 10, 2021, a true and correct copy of the foregoing was 

served via CM/ECF on all counsel or parties of record.    

       By: /s/ Jeffrey E. Marcus 

        Jeffrey E. Marcus 
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FINANCIAL INDUSTRY REGULATORY AUTHORITY
LETTER OF ACCEPTANCE, WAIVER AND CONSENT

NO. 2011028152201

TO: Department of Enforcement
Financial Industry Regulatory Authority ("FINRA")

RE: Perry Stephen Abbonizio, Respondent
General Securities Representative

CRD No. 2787112

Pursuant to FINRA Rule 9216 of FINRA's Code of Procedure, I, Perry Stephen Abbonizio,
submit this Letter of Acceptance, Waiver and Consent ("AWC") for the purpose of proposing a
settlement of the alleged rule violations described below. This AWC is submitted on the

condition that, if accepted, FINRA will not bring any future actions against me alleging
violations based on the same factual findings described herein.

I.

ACCEPTANCE AND CONSENT

A. I hereby accept and consent, without admitting or denying the findings, and solely

for the purposes of this proceeding and any other proceeding brought by or on
behalf of FrNRA, or to which FINRA is a party, prior to a hearing and without an
adjudication of any issue of law or fact, to the entry of the following findings by
FINRA:

BACKGROUND

Perry Stephen Abbonizio ("Abbonizio" or "Respondent") entered the securities
industry in July 1996 with a FINRA regulated firm. He became registered as a
General Securities Representative ("GSR") in October 1996 and continued to be

associated with that firm until July 1999. From July 1999 to March 2008,
Abbonizio was associated with another FINRA regulated firm as a GSR. From
March 2008 to April 2011, Abbonizio was registered as a GSR with Wells Fargo

Advisors, LLC ("WFA" or the "Firm"). On April 26, 2011, during WFA's
"review of Mr. Abbonizio's involvement with an outside investor relations firm
unaffiliated with [WFA] and his recommendations of low-priced securities

promoted by the outside relations firm made to [WFA] clients," Abbonizio
voluntarily terminated his employment with WFA.

From April 26,2011 to January 14,2015, Abbonizio was associated with another

FINRA regulated firm as a GSR. Pursuant to Article V, Section 4 of FINRA's

i
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By-Laws, FINRA retains jurisdiction over Abbonizio until January 14,2017.

RELEVANT DISCIPLINARY HISTORY

Abbonizio has no formal disciplinary history.

OVERVIEW

From in or about March 2008 through in or about April 20 i l (the "Relevant
Period"), Abbonizio, a former GSR with WFA, participated in private securities
transactions by soliciting approximately ten Firm customers to invest in three

private placements, without providing notice to WFA in violation ofNASD Rules

3040 and 21 10 and FINRA Rule 2010.

ln addition, Abbonizio engaged in an outside business activity by referring
individuals who were hired by a company involved in the private placements and

receiving compensation from the company in the form of shares, without
providing notice to WFA in violation ofNASD Rules 3030 and 21 10 and F??IRA
Rule 2010.

FACTS AND VIOLATIVE CONDUCT

1. Private Securities Transactions

NASD Conduct Rule 3040 prohibits an associated person from "participat[ing] in

any manner in a private securities transaction" unless, prior to participating in the
transaction, the associated person provides "written notice to the member with
which he is associated describing in detail the proposed transaction and the
person's proposed role therein and stating whether he has received or may receive

selling compensation in connection with the transaction." A ''private securities
transaction" is defined in Rule 3040(e)(1) as "any transaction outside the course

or scope ofan associated person's employment with a member...."

FINRA Rule 2010 and its predecessor rule, NASD Rule 2110,' provide that "[a]
member, in the conduct of his business, shall observe high standards of
commercial honor andjust and equitable principles oftrade."

During the Relevant Period, while associated with WFA, Abbonizio solicited
approximately ten Firm customers to invest approximately $625,000 in three
private placements. Abbonizio participated in these private securities transactions

' See FINRA Regulatory Notice 08-57, which describes certain changes to FINRA's rules, including the change of
NASD Rule 21 10 to FrNRA Rule 20?0, effective December 15,2008.

1

2
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without the Firm's knowledge or permission.

WFA policies and procedures prohibited representatives from soliciting customers
?o participate in any private securities transaction not associated with the Firm,
whether or not the representative received compensation for doing so.

Accordingly, Abbonizio violated NASD Rules 3040 and 21 ?0 (for conduct before
December I 5, 2008) and FINRA Rule 2010 (for conduct after December 14,

2008) because, during his employment with WFA, he participated in private
securities transactions by soliciting approximately ten Firm customers to invest in
three private p!acements without the knowledge or consent of WFA.

2. Outside Business Activity

NASD Rule 3030 states that "[n]o person associated with a member in any
registered capacity shall be employed by, or accept compensation from, any other

person as a result of any business activity, other than a passive investment,
outside the scope of his relationship with his employer firm, unless he has

provided prompt written notice to his employer."

Between March 2008 and in or about August 2009, while associated with WFA,
Abbonizio engaged in an outside business activity with one of the companies
involved in the private placements. Specifically, Abbonizio referred individuals
who were hired by the company for high-level positions and received
compensation from the company in the form of shares. Abbonizio was allocated
these shares in 2009 

- with a total value of approximately $100,000 

- outside the

scope ofhis relationship with WFA.

WFA policies and procedures prohibited its representatives from participating in

an outside business activity without providing prior notice and receiving prior
approval from the Firm. Abbonizio never provided WFA with notice of his
outside business activity and compensation from the company.

Accordingly, Abbonizio violated NASD Rules 3030 and 2110 (for conduct before
December 15, 2008) and FINRA Rule 2010 (for conduct after December 14,

2008) because, during his association with WFA, he received compensation as the
result of an outside business activity without providing prior notice to the Firm.

3
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B. 1 also consent to the imposition ofthe following sanctions:

. a $10,000 fine; and

. a four-month suspension from association with any FINRA member in

any capacity.

The fine shall be due and payable either immediately upon reassociation with a
member firm following the four-month suspension noted above, or prior to any
application or request for relief from any statutory disqualification resulting from
this or any other event or proceeding, whichever is earlier.

i specifically and voluntarily waive any right to claim that I am unable to pay,

now or at any time hereafter, the monetary sanction(s) imposed in this matter.

I understand that if I am barred or suspended from associating with any FINRA
member, I become subject to a statutory disqualification as that term is defined in

Article III, Section 4 of FINRA's By-Laws, incorporating Section 3(a)(39) ofthe
Securities Exchange Act of 1934. Accordingly, I may not be associated with any
FINRA member in any capacity, including clerical or ministerial functions, during
the period ofthe bar or suspension ?ee FrNRA Rules 8310 and 831 1).

The sanctions imposed herein shall be effective on a date set by FINRA staff.

II.

WAIVER OF PROCEDURAL RIGHTS

I specifically and voluntarily waive the following rights granted under FINRA's Code of
Procedure:

A. To have a Complaint issued specifying the allegations against me;

B. To be notified of the Complaint and have the opportunity to answer the
allegations in writing;

C. To defend against the allegations in a disciplinary hearing before a hearing panel,

to have a written record of the hearing made, and to have a written decision
issued; and

D. To appeal any such decision to the National Adjudicatory Council ('?NAC") and

then to the Securities and Exchange Commission and a U.S. Court ofAppeals.

4
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Further, 1 specifically and voluntarily waive any right to claim bias or prejudgment of the Chief
Legal Officer, the NAC, or any member ofthe NAC, in connection with such person's or body's
participation in discussions regarding the terms and conditions of this AWC, or other
consideration ofthis AWC, including acceptance or rejection ofthis AWC.

1 further specifically and voluntarily waive any right to claim that a person violated the ex parte
prohibitions of FINRA Rule 9143 or the separation of functions prohibitions of Rule 9144, in
connection with such person's participation in discussions regarding the terms and conditions of
this AWC, or other consideration ofthis AWC, including its acceptance or rejection.

III.

OTHER MATTERS

1 understand that:

A. Submission ofthis AWC is voluntary and will not resolve this matter unless and

until it has been reviewed and accepted by the NAC, a Review Subcommittee of
the NAC, or the Office of Disciplinary Affairs ("ODA"), pursuant to F??IRA Rule
9216;

B. Ifthis AWC is not accepted, its submission will not be used as evidence to prove
any ofthe allegations against me; and

C. Ifaccepted:

1. this AWC will become part of my permanent disciplinary record and may
be considered in any future actions brought by FrIIRA or any other
regulator against me;

2. this AWC will be made available through F?NRA's public disclosure

program in accordance with FINRA Rule 8313;

3. FINRA may make a public announcement concerning this agreement and

the subject matter thereofin accordance with FINRA Rule 8313; and

4. I may not take any action or make or permit to be made any public
statement, including in regulatory filings or otherwise, denying, directly or
indirectly, any finding in this AWC or create the impression that the AWC
is without factual basis. I may not take any position in any proceeding

brought by or on behalf of FINRA, or to which FINRA is a party, that is
inconsistent with any part of this AWC. Nothing in this provision affects

my: (i) testimonial obligations; or (ii) right to take legal or factual

5
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.

positions in litigation or other legal proceedings in which F?NRA is not a
party.

D. I may attach a Corrective Action Statement to this AWC that is a statement of
demonstrable corrective steps taken to prevent future misconduct. ? understand

that I may not deny the charges or make any statement that is inconsistent with
the AWC in this Statement. This Statement does not constitute factual or legal

findings by FlNRA, nor does it reflect the views ofFINRA or its staff.

l certify that 1 have read and understand all ofthe provisions ofthis AWC and have been given a

full opportunity to ask questions about it; that I have agreed to its provisions voluntarily; and that

no offer, threat, inducement, or promise ofany kind, other than the terms set forth herein and the

prospect ofavoiding the issuance of a Complaint, has been made to induce me to submit it.

2-23-2015- lalll/- 

L
Date BKISIGG/UYMMMGO

Perry S?Wi?hen Abbonizio

Accepted by F?\IRA:

2.24 15 Signed on behalfofthe
Date Director of ODA? by delegated authority

A.e dZX
Richard R. Best, Chief Counsel

FrNRA Department of Enforcement
One World Financial Center
200 Liberty Street, 11 th Floor
New York, NY 10281

Phone: (646) 315-7308

6
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 SOAH DOCKET NO. 312-20-4033 
 
TEXAS STATE SECURITIES BOARD §  BEFORE THE STATE OFFICE    

Petitionr,  §  
                       § 
v.  §   OF 
                              § 
PERRY ABBONIZIO, §   

Respondent.  §  ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 
 

PERRY ABBONIZIO’S MOTION TO STAY PROCEEDINGS 
 

Respondent Perry Abbonizio (“Abbonizio”) hereby moves the State Office of 

Administrative Hearings (“SOAH”) and the Administrative Law Judge (“ALJ”) to stay this 

proceeding as to Abbonizio, pending the resolution of an SEC enforcement action in the U.S. 

District Court for the Southern District of Florida. In support of this motion, Abbonizio 

respectfully shows the following: 

I. SUMMARY 

 A stay of this matter is appropriate. The Texas State Securities Board (the “TSSB”) has 

alleged fraud and registration violations against Abbonizio relating to the offer and sale of 

promissory notes issued by Par Funding. Similarly, the U.S. Securities and Exchange 

Commission (the “SEC”) has filed an action in the Southern District of Florida alleging fraud 

and registration violations against Abbonizio relating to the offer and sale of Par Funding’s 

promissory notes (the “SEC Action”).  

 Not only do the legal issues overlap in the two cases, but the facts underlying the alleged 

violations are also the same. As a result, there is a high likelihood that Abbonizio could face 

conflicting judgments and duplicative, unnecessary litigation efforts.  Expending effort and 

resources by litigating this case and the SEC Action simultaneously will not only affect 
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Abbonizio, but could negatively impact any potential recovery by the investors the TSSB and the 

SEC are seeking to protect.  

 Because Abbonizio is subject to the Emergency Order during the pendency of this matter, 

Abbonizio is already subject to all of the cease and desist sanctions the TSSB seeks to finalize 

through the SOAH hearing. Therefore, the TSSB will not be delayed in pursuing its interests. 

The only actual effect, even if the TSSB were successful at hearing, would be that Abbonizio 

would be subject to a “disqualifying event,” which carries significant consequences. Yet because 

Abbonizio is also currently subject to a Preliminary Injunction Order in the SEC Action, he is 

already subject to disqualifying provisions under the securities laws. In other words, a final 

Order in the TSSB’s case would not achieve anything more than is already in effect. 

 Accordingly, this case should be temporarily stayed pending resolution by the U.S. 

District Court for the Southern District of Florida of the SEC Action. 

II. BACKGROUND 

A.  This Case 

  On February 25, 2020, the TSSB entered Order No. ENF-CDO-20-1798 (the “Emergency 

Order”) against six parties, including Abbonizio, Complete Business Solutions Group, Inc. dba 

Par Funding (“Par Funding”), and abetterfinancialplan.com, LLC aka A Better Financial Plan 

(“A Better Financial Plan”), pursuant to Section 23-2 of the Texas Securities Act (the “TSA”). 

The TSSB alleged fraud and registration violations, including that all of the Respondents 

engaged in fraud based on their failure to disclose to investors certain orders issued by state 

regulators against Par Funding and court actions filed against Par Funding based on its lending 

practices. The TSSB specifically alleged fraud violations in connection with the offer and sale of 

Par Funding promissory notes against Abbonizio.   
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 On April 2, 2020, Abbonizio timely submitted a request for hearing to challenge the 

application of the Emergency Order. On March 25, 2021, the TSSB filed the formal Notice of 

Hearing in this matter pursuant to which the TSSB has requested that the ALJ enter a proposal 

for decision to affirm the Emergency Order. See TSSB Notice of Hearing, ¶ 10. The evidentiary 

hearing in this matter is scheduled to commence before the ALJ on May 27, 2021.  

B.  The SEC Action 

 On July 24, 2020, the SEC filed a complaint for injunctive and other relief against 

multiple defendants, including Respondents Abbonizio, Par Funding, and A Better Business 

Plan, in the U.S. District Court for the Southern District of Florida in Case No. 9:20-cv-81205-

RAR (the “SEC Action”). SEC Complaint, Doc. 1. The SEC amended its complaint on August 

10, 2020.  SEC Action, Doc. 119, attached hereto as Exhibit A.1  The SEC’s complaint charged 

the defendants with violating the antifraud provisions of Section 17(a) of the Securities Act of 

1933 and Section 10(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 and Rule 10b-5 thereunder, and 

the securities registration provisions of Sections 5(a) and 5(c) of the Securities Act. Like this 

case, the SEC’s claims revolve around the unregistered offer and sale of Par Funding promissory 

notes.   

 The Southern District of Florida granted the SEC’s request for emergency relief. The 

SEC obtained a temporary restraining order against the defendants, including Abbonizio, an asset 

freeze against Par Funding and others, and the appointment of a receiver for Par Funding and 

other entity defendants. See SEC Action, Docs. 36, 42, 141. Copies of the Order granting the 

SEC’s Motion for Apportionment of a Receiver [Doc. 36], and the Amended Order Appointing a 

                                                             
1  The Amended Complaint corrects a scriveners error, to include “The” in the Relief Defendant’s  name 
and identifies the Trustees of the Relief Defendant. “SEC Complaint” in this motion refers to the 
complaint as amended.  
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Receiver [Doc. 141] are attached hereto as Exhibits B and C, respectively. On August 20, 2020, 

the court entered a preliminary injunction against Abbonizio, based on his consent, enjoining 

him from violating the antifraud and registration provisions of the federal securities laws. See 

SEC Action, Docs. 173-1 & 181, attached hereto as Exhibits D and E, respectively.  Abbonizio’s 

consent agreement, which was contemporaneously filed with the SEC’s motion for a preliminary 

injunction, outlines the scope of his asset freeze.  See, e.g., Ex. D.  

Discovery in the SEC Action is ongoing.  The jury trial in the SEC Action is scheduled to 

commence on August 30, 2021. See SEC Action, Doc. 279, attached hereto as Exhibit F. 

III. ARGUMENTS

The ALJ has the discretionary authority to stay proceedings, with the exercise of this 

authority involving the balancing and competing interests and issues. See, e.g., Landis v. N. Am. 

Co., 299 U.S. 248, 254 (1936) (stating that the power to stay “is incidental to the power inherent 

in every court to control the disposition of the cases on its docket with economy of time and 

effort for itself, for counsel, and for litigants”); Soverain Software LLC v. Amazon, Inc., 356 F. 

Supp. 2d 660, 662 (E.D. Tex. 2005) (citations omitted) (rev’d on other grounds).  

When considering whether to stay a proceeding, Texas courts will typically consider the 

following factors in making stay determinations: “(1) whether a stay will unduly prejudice or 

present a clear tactical disadvantage to the nonmoving party, (2) whether a stay will simplify the 

issues in question and trial of the case, and (3) whether discovery is complete and whether a trial 

date has been set.” Soverain Software LLC v. Amazon.com, 356 F. Supp. 2d 660, 662 (E.D. Tex. 

2005).  Other significant factors for consideration include whether judicial efficiency will be 

improved by avoiding duplicative litigation, simplifying the issues in question, and reducing the 

burden of litigation.  See, e.g., Strong v. Livingston, No. 2:12-CV-106, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

50081, at *6-*7 (S.D. Tex. Apr. 11, 2014) (finding stay is in “best interests of judicial economy” 

PERRY ABBONIZIO’S MOTION TO STAY PROCEEDING -   Page 4 
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where upcoming trial in different district court may streamline case by testing party’s best 

evidence); Louisiana ex rel. Flores v. Am. Nat’l Prop. & Cas. Co., No. 13-3546, 2013 U.S. Dist. 

LEXIS 139516, at *2-*4 (E.D. La. Sept. 26, 2013) (finding “interests of judicial economy are 

obviously served by imposing a stay” pending Fifth Circuit’s ruling on separate case involving 

the same threshold issue since “this Court will be bound by the Fifth Circuit’s ruling on the 

issue”); Johnson v. Canal Barge Co., No. G-12-037, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 127246, at *1-*2 

(S.D. Tex. Sept. 6, 2013) (granting stay pending Fifth Circuit’s resolution of separate case 

because judgment there will be on issue “that is necessary to the disposition of these cases”); 

U.S. Wolf Designs, Inc. v. Donald McEvoy Ltd., 341 F. Supp. 2d 639, 645-46 (N.D. Tex. Oct. 15, 

2004) (“Where such substantial similarities [in concurrent cases] exist, the parties and witnesses, 

the public, and the courts are entitled to be free from the waste of duplicative litigation.”).   

As discussed below, a combination of these factors supports staying this case in favor of 

a resolution on the issues that are already before the Southern District of Florida.   

A. Without a Stay, Abbonizio Could Be Faced With Conflicting Judgments.  
  
 This administrative proceeding should be stayed because it focuses on precisely the same 

conduct that is the subject of the SEC Action and, therefore, could result in conflicting 

judgments.  See, e.g., U.S. Wolf Designs, Inc. v. Donald McEvoy Ltd., 341 F. Supp. 2d 639, 645 

(N.D. Tex. Oct. 15, 2004) (considering the heightened risk of inconsistent rulings in granting a 

stay); In re State Farm Mut. Auto Ins. Co., 192 S.W. 3d 897, 901 (Tex. App.-Tyler 2006, orig. 

proceeding) (considering the effect of a judgment in the later action on any order or judgment 

entered in the prior action); Crown Leasing Corp. v. Sims, 92 S.W.3d 924, 927 (Tex. App.-

Texarkana 2002, no pet.) (same). Notably, in addition to the core issues discussed below, the 

overlap between these two cases goes down to even the smallest of details. For example, the 

TSSB asserts that “Abbonizio [is] claiming that [a total of 45] other parties are raising capital for 
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Respondent Par Funding.” Emergency Order, ¶ 33. The SEC mirrors this assertion by stating that 

“[a]ccording to Abbonizio…., there are more than 40 Agent Funds raising investor money for 

Par Funding.” Ex. A, SEC Complaint, ¶ 78. 

With respect to the core allegations, both cases allege that Abbonizio engaged in fraud by 

failing to disclose to investors certain regulatory actions against Par Funding. See Emergency 

Order, ¶¶ 62-67; Ex. A, SEC Complaint, ¶¶ 227-30. Specifically, both actions require proving 

that Abbonizio failed to disclose the existence of a previous action by the Pennsylvania securities 

regulator and the existence of a previous action by the New Jersey securities regulator. More 

importantly, both the TSSB case and the SEC Action require the respective factfinders to 

conclude that the existence of these previous actions: (1) were “material facts” and (2) that 

Abbonizio had a legal duty to disclose the existence of these actions to the investors. These are 

both legal conclusions that require the application of similar legal standards under both Texas 

law and the applicable federal laws. See Tex. Rev. Civ. Stat. Art. 581-33A(2); 15 U.S.C. §§ 

77q(a), 78j(b); 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5.  Although we believe the law will support Abbonizio, the 

risk that two jurisdictions could reach inconsistent results on these critical legal issues – based on 

the same facts (i.e., non-disclosure of the Pennsylvania and New Jersey actions) – would only 

foster confusion and uncertainty. See U.S. Wolf Designs, Inc., 341 F. Supp. 2d at 645. This risk is 

compounded because given the Receiver’s appointment in the SEC Action, Abbonizio no longer 

has unfettered access to Par Funding’s documents that will support his defenses in this matter, 

other than as requested and received through discovery in the SEC Action which is still ongoing. 

Thus, the risk of harm to Abbonizio is great, but staying the TSSB action does not present any 

negative consequences for the TSSB (or the investing public).  

Moreover, both the SEC and the TSSB have alleged that Abbonizio engaged in fraud by 

not disclosing to investors (1) the identity of the principals of Par Funding and (2) the business 
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reputation (i.e., criminal history) of a principal of Par Funding. See Emergency Order, ¶¶ 60-61; 

Ex. A, SEC Complaint, ¶ 217. Once again, assuming the regulators can establish that these facts 

were not disclosed in the relevant transactions, the SEC and TSSB would be concurrently asking 

separate factfinders to conclude that (1) these facts were material and (2) Abbonizio had a legal 

duty to disclose these facts to investors. 

Finally, the regulators in both matters assert that Abbonizio engaged in the sale of 

unregistered securities. To that end, both claims involve assertions that the investments at issue 

(i.e., the Par Funding promissory notes) have not been filed with the SEC and there was not any 

applicable exemption from registration. See Ex. A, SEC Complaint, Count VII, ¶¶ 286-289; 

Emergency Order, ¶¶ 51-55, Conclusion of Law 2.   

Importantly, as the TSSB itself acknowledges, the federal exemption from securities 

registration, if applicable as claimed, would preempt the TSSB from requiring registration 

pursuant to state law. See Emergency Order, ¶¶ 53-54. In other words – the TSSB’s ability to 

prove one of the alleged violations in this case depends entirely on whether an exemption under a 

federal law administered by the SEC was satisfied. This exact issue will be in front of a federal 

court in the SEC Action at effectively the same time as this case. What happens if the ALJ rules 

that the exemption under federal law was not available to the securities transactions at issue, yet 

a federal court rules otherwise? Would the preemption then apply and automatically undo the 

ALJ’s ruling or would additional litigation become necessary? It is exactly these types of 

avoidable risks that support Abbonizio’s request that this matter be stayed until the resolution of 

these parallel issues in the SEC Action. 

B. A Stay Will Avoid Duplicative Litigation Efforts and Streamline the Issues.   

 A stay will promote judicial economy by avoiding duplicative litigation, simplifying the 

issues in question, and reducing the burden of litigation on Abbonizio and the SOAH. See, e.g., 
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Strong, 2014 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 50081, at *6-*7; Louisiana ex rel. Flores, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 

139516, at *2-*4; Johnson, 2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 127246, at *1-*2; U.S. Wolf Designs, Inc., 

341 F. Supp. 2d at 645-46.  

 1. Overlapping Factual and Legal Issues 

The cases share similar fact patterns and central legal issues, documents and other 

evidence will be germane to both proceedings. The SEC Action will likely address issues such as 

the extent to which Abbonizio disclosed or failed to disclose to investors certain state regulatory 

orders and court actions against Par Funding, as well as other representations or omissions to 

investors relating to the offer and sale of Par Funding promissory notes. Each of these issues will 

be material to, and potentially dispositive of, the issues raised in this matter. Although the fraud 

claims in this matter will be analyzed under Texas law, the antifraud provisions of the Texas 

Securities Act at issue in this case are substantially similar to the antifraud provisions of the 

federal securities laws at issue in the SEC Action. See Tex. Rev. Civ. Stat. Art. 581-33A; 15 

U.S.C. §§ 77q, 78j(b); 17 C.F.R. § 240.10b-5. The resolution of the SEC Action will therefore 

inform the ALJ’s decision in this matter and narrow the issues which it must resolve if any issues 

remain. 

 2. All Sanctions and Investor Protection Remedies Achievable through a Final TSSB 
 Order are Already in Place. 

 
 A hearing on the merits in this matter will not result in any additional sanctions or 

investment protections than those already in place during the pendency of this matter and the 

SEC Action.  

The TSSB is not seeking the imposition of any sanctions other than those listed in its 

Emergency Order.  In other words, if the TSSB were successful on all counts at hearing, a final 

order in this matter would not result in a monetary penalty against Abbonizio or require anything 
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of Abbonizio other than that what he is already required to do under the Emergency Order. The 

Emergency Order, while not a final order, is still in effect and Abbonizio remains subject to its 

provisions until this matter is resolved.  

A final order by the TSSB involving findings of fraud would constitute a “disqualifying 

event” under various securities laws. For example, a person subject to a disqualifying event 

could have little to no role in securities transactions for exempt offerings relying on fundamental 

provisions of the securities laws. See 17 C.F.R. §§ 230.506(d), 230.262(a).  In other words, 

ordinarily, a final TSSB order involving fraud findings would subject Abbonizio to significant 

ramifications that would not be implicated during the period in which he is challenging an 

Emergency Order. 

However, Abbonizio has also consented to the entry of an Order by the U.S. District 

Court for the Southern District of Florida enjoining him from engaging in any conduct in 

connection with the sale of any security that violates key provisions of the federal securities 

laws. See, e.g., Ex. E, Order Granting Preliminary Injunction by Consent.  This Preliminary 

Injunction Order in the SEC Action, although preliminary in nature, nonetheless constitutes a 

“disqualifying event” under Rule 506. See 17 C.F.R. § 230.506(d)(1)(ii);  Disqualification of 

Felons and Other “Bad Actors” from Rule 506 Offerings, Securities Act Release No. 9414, pp. 

36-38 (Sept. 23, 2013), available at https://www.sec.gov/rules/final/2013/33-9414.pdf.  

 In sum, even if the TSSB were to succeed completely on all of its allegations, a hearing 

on the merits in this matter will not result in any additional sanctions or restrictions on 

Abbonizio. All of what the TSSB hopes to accomplish is already in place and will remain so 

unless and until the SEC Action is unsuccessful in its claims. Of course, for the reasons noted 

above, such a conclusion in the SEC Action will significantly inform the ALJ’s analysis and 

decision in this matter if any issues remained outstanding.  
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C.  The TSSB Will Not Be Prejudiced From Staying This Matter.  

 The TSSB cannot demonstrate any prejudice or hardship from staying this matter.  The 

TSSB has already entered the Emergency Order against Abbonizio. The terms of the Emergency 

Order, while not final during the pendency of this matter, remain in full effect. Moreover, the 

TSSB’s demand in the present matter is only to make final the findings and sanctions in the 

Emergency Order. In other words, the TSSB is not seeking any remedy that would not already be 

in place during a stay of this proceeding. After resolution of the SEC Action, which is scheduled 

for trial in August 2021, the evidentiary hearing on Abbonizio’s challenge to the Emergency 

Order can resume – should the parties even deem necessary.  

 On the other hand, forcing Abbonizio to litigate the same issues in the TSSB matter 

before resolution of the SEC Action could unnecessarily undermine some key relief being sought 

in the SEC Action. The SEC has requested that Abbonizio be forced to disgorge all ill-gotten 

gains and pay penalties to the federal government. Requiring Abbonizio to pay for the costs of 

concurrently defending the same issues in this matter would negatively impact the SEC’s ability 

to recover disgorgement or penalties from Abbonizio. A stay, however, would have no effect on 

the relief sought by the TSSB, which it has already obtained through the Emergency Order. 

Accordingly, the equities support only one conclusion – this matter should be stayed. 

IV. REQUEST FOR RELIEF 

Respondent respectfully requests that the Court enter the attached Proposed Order staying 

this case as it relates to Perry Abbonizio until the resolution of the SEC Action, and for such 

further relief, legal or equitable, to which he may be justly entitled. 
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Respectfully submitted, 
 
WINSTEAD PC 
 
 
By: /s/ Ronak V. Patel  
Ronak V. Patel 
State Bar No. 24037241 
rvpatel@winstead.com 
401 Congress Avenue, Suite 2100 
Austin, Texas 78701 
Telephone:  (512) 370-2892 
Facsimile:   (512) 370-2580 
 
-and- 
 
Toby M. Galloway  
State Bar No. 00790733 
tgalloway@winstead.com  
300 Throckmorton Street, Suite 1700 
Fort Worth, Texas 76102 
Telephone:  (817) 420-8200 
Facsimile:   (817) 420-8201 
 
ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT 
PERRY ABBONIZIO 

 

CERTIFICATE OF CONFERENCE 
 
 I certify that I conferred in good faith with Jeramy Heintz, counsel for the TSSB, 
concerning Respondent Abbonizio’s request to stay this proceeding.  The TSSB opposes the 
relief requested herein.  

/s/ Ronak V. Patel    
Ronak V. Patel 

 

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 
 
 I certify that a true and correct copy of the foregoing was forwarded to all counsel of 
record in this case by electronic mail on April 2, 2021. 

/s/ Ronak V. Patel    
Ronak V. Patel 
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SOAH DOCKET NO. 312-20-4033 
 

TEXAS STATE SECURITIES BOARD, 
 Petitioner 
 
v. 
 
PERRY ABBONIZIO, 
 Respondent 

§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 
§ 

 BEFORE THE STATE OFFICE 
 
 

                    OF 
 
 

ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS 
 

ORDER NO. 7 
GRANTING MOTION TO STAY PROCEEDINGS 

 

 On April 2, 2021, Respondent Perry Abbonizio filed a Motion to Stay Proceedings. Although 

the certificate of conference indicates that the staff (Staff) of the Texas State Securities Board 

opposed the motion, Staff did not file a response to it. In the motion, Respondent argues that this 

matter should be stayed because the Securities and Exchange Commission has filed an action against 

him in the United States District Court for the Southern District of Florida and that action alleges 

violations based on the same facts pleaded here.  The Florida case is set for trial on August 30, 2021. 

The ALJ will grant the motion. 

 

It is therefore ORDERED that It is therefore ORDERED that the Respondent’s Motion to 

Stay Proceedings is GRANTED, that the hearing set for May 27, 2021, is CANCELED, and that the 

parties are to file a status report with SOAH within 5 days of judgment being entered.  Until that 

time, the parties are to file status reports every 30 days, beginning May 21, 2021.  

 

  SIGNED April 22, 2021. 

 

ACCEPTED
312-20-4033
04/22/2021 3:29 PM
STATE OFFICE OF 
ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS
Donnie Roland, CLERK

FILED
312-20-4033
4/22/2021 2:58 PM
STATE OFFICE OF 
ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS
Donnie Roland, CLERK

STATE OFFICE OF ADMINISTRATIVE HEARINGS RECEIVED ON 4/22/2021 2:58 PM

Copy from re:SearchTX
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(424) 239-2800
GRADILLAS COURT REPORTERS

1

1 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

2 SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

3

4 SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE )
COMMISSION, )

5 )
Plaintiff, )

6 )
vs. ) CASE NO.

7 ) 20-CV-81205-RAR
COMPLETE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS )

8 GROUP, INC. d/b/a PAR FUNDING, )
et al., )

9 )
Defendants, and )

10 )
L.M.E. 2017 FAMILY TRUST, )

11 )
Relief Defendant. )

12 _________________________________)

13

14

15 REMOTE VIDEOTAPED DEPOSITION OF PERRY S. ABBONIZIO

16 Thursday, June 10, 2021

17

18

19

20

21

22

23
Reported by:

24 Denise Sankary,
RPR, RMR, CRR

25 Job No. 210610DSA
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(424) 239-2800
GRADILLAS COURT REPORTERS

2

1 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

2 SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF FLORIDA

3

4 SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE )
COMMISSION, )

5 )
Plaintiff, )

6 )
vs. ) CASE NO.

7 ) 20-CV-81205-RAR
COMPLETE BUSINESS SOLUTIONS )

8 GROUP, INC. d/b/a PAR FUNDING, )
et al., )

9 )
Defendants, and )

10 )
L.M.E. 2017 FAMILY TRUST, )

11 )
Relief Defendant. )

12 _________________________________)

13

14

15

16 Remote videotaped deposition of PERRY S.

17 ABBONIZIO, taken on behalf of Plaintiff, all parties

18 appearing remotely, beginning at 10:07 a.m. and

19 ending at 6:17 p.m., on Thursday, June 10, 2021,

20 before Denise Sankary, RPR, RMR, CRR.

21

22

23

24

25
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(424) 239-2800
GRADILLAS COURT REPORTERS

3

1 APPEARANCES (All appearing remotely):

2
For the Plaintiff:

3
UNITED STATES SECURITIES AND EXCHANGE COMMISSION

4 BY: AMIE RIGGLE BERLIN, ESQUIRE
801 Brickell Avenue, Suite 1800

5 Miami, Florida 33131
Telephone: 305-982-6300

6 Email: berlina@sec.gov

7

8 On behalf of Dean Vagnozzi:

9 AKERMAN, LLP
BY: BRIAN P. MILLER, ESQUIRE

10 98 Southeast Seventh Street, Suite 1100
Miami, Florida 33131

11 Telephone: 305-982-5626
Email: brian.miller@akerman.com

12

13 On behalf of Perry Abbonizio:

14 MARCUS NEIMAN RASHBAUM & PINEIRO, LLP
BY: JEFFREY MARCUS, ESQUIRE

15 BY: JASON MAYS, ESQUIRE
BY: BRANDON FLOCH, ESQUIRE

16 One Biscayne Tower
2 South Biscayne Boulevard, Suite 2530

17 Miami, Florida 33131
Telephone: 305-400-4260

18 Email: jmarcus@mnrlawfirm.com
Email: jmays@mnrlawfirm.com

19 Email: bfloch@mnrlawfirm.com

20

21 On behalf of Joseph LaForte:

22 FRIDMAN FELS & SOTO, PLLC
BY: ALEJANDRO SOTO, ESQUIRE

23 2525 Ponce De Leon Boulevard, Suite 750
Coral Gables, Florida 33134

24 Telephone: 305-569-7701
Email: asoto@ffslawfirm.com

25
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(424) 239-2800
GRADILLAS COURT REPORTERS

4

1 APPEARANCES (All appearing remotely):

2

3 On behalf of Joseph LaForte:

4 KOPELOWITZ OSTROW FERGUSON WEISELBERG GILBERT
BY: DAVID LAWRENCE FERGUSON, ESQUIRE

5 One West Las Olas Boulevard, Suite 500
Fort Lauderdale, Florida 33301

6 Telephone: 954-525-4100
Email: ferguson@kolawyers.com

7

8 On behalf of the Court-Appointed Receiver:

9 PIETRAGALLO GORDON ALFANO BOSICK &
RASPANTI, LLP

10 BY: DOUGLAS ROSENBLUM, ESQUIRE
1818 Market Street, Suite 3402

11 Philadelphia, Pennsylvania 19103
Telephone: 215-320-6200

12 Email: dkr@pietragallo.com

13

14 ALSO PRESENT:

15 Tim Hunter, Videographer

16 Dean Vagnozzi

17 Joseph LaForte

18 Michael Furman

19

20

21

22

23

24

25
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(424) 239-2800
GRADILLAS COURT REPORTERS

5

1 I N D E X

2 WITNESS: EXAMINATION PAGE

3 PERRY S. ABBONIZIO

4 BY MS. BERLIN 7

5 BY MR. MILLER 211

6
BY MS. BERLIN 220

7

8
E X H I B I T S

9

10 No. Page

11 Exhibit 50 Complete Business Solutions 172
Group, Inc. and Affiliate

12 Consolidated Financial Statements
year ended December 31, 2017 and

13 Independent Auditors' Report

14 Exhibit 51 Complete Business Solutions 175
Group, Inc. and Affiliate

15 Consolidated Financial Statements
year ended December 31, 2017 and

16 Independent Auditors' Report

17

18 REFERENCE OF PREVIOUSLY MARKED EXHIBITS

19 No. Page

20 Exhibit 49 CBSG Funding Analysis 184
01/01/13 - 12/31/18

21

22

23

24

25
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209

118:00 Q. Okay. And did you share that information

2 with the agent fund managers or potential -- or

3 investors or both?

4 A. Combination of all the above, yes.

518:00 Q. Did you discuss with anyone at Par Funding

6 that you were going to say that to the agent fund

7 managers and investors before you said it or not?

8 A. No. And Ms. Berlin, let me clarify. I

9 didn't make that the thrust of my presentation. It

1018:00 was a humanitarian time in this country. My voice

11 is as tired today as it was then. Talking around

12 the clock to people that in addition to dealing with

13 the conflict were now dealing with this financial

14 hardship and needing to improvise. And I was simply

1518:00 trying to be humanitarian and have some foresight

16 based on the little gray hair that I have left and

17 tell people that that would be my hope. But

18 regardless of my hope, the terms that were presented

19 were fortunate terms in light of the many options

2018:01 that could have surrounded and they lose their

21 principal indefinitely investing in a merchant cash

22 company with small business in the United States,

23 the biggest casualty of COVID.

24 Q. Isn't it true though that some investors

2518:01 got preferential treatment during this time of the
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210

118:01 exchange note offering and received their funds back

2 not -- having nothing to do with the hardship

3 process that you were testifying about?

4 A. Well, I don't know -- I don't know what

518:01 you're referring to, Ms. Berlin. My focus was on

6 hardship, but I don't know.

7 Q. Did your mother-in-law get paid back in

8 full on her promissory note at the time of the

9 exchange note offering?

1018:02 A. My mother-in-law is 87 years old, and yes,

11 she did.

12 Q. Okay. And so did your brother-in-law?

13 A. My brother-in-law?

14 Q. I thought he was your brother-in-law. Do

1518:02 you have another family member who also got paid on

16 their --

17 A. No.

18 Q. -- during the exchange offering?

19 A. No, another family member, no, I did not.

2018:02 Q. No other inlaw?

21 A. No, not to my knowledge.

22 MS. BERLIN: I have no further questions.

23 THE WITNESS: Okay.

24 MR. MILLER: This is Brian Miller. I have

2518:02 a couple of questions. I don't know whether I
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